

# The functions of foliar nyctinasty: a review and hypothesis

### Peter V. Minorsky\*

Department of Natural Sciences, Mercy College, 555 Broadway, Dobbs Ferry, NY 10522, U.S.A.

#### ABSTRACT

Foliar nyctinasty is a plant behaviour characterised by a pronounced daily oscillation in leaf orientation. During the day, the blades of nyctinastic plant leaves (or leaflets) assume a more or less horizontal position that optimises their ability to capture sunlight for photosynthesis. At night, the positions that the leaf blades assume, regardless of whether they arise by rising, falling or twisting, are essentially vertical. Among the ideas put forth to explain the raison d'être of foliar nyctinasty are that it: (i) improves the temperature relations of plants; (ii) helps remove surface water from foliage; (iii) prevents the disruption of photoperiodism by moonlight; and (*iv*) directly discourages insect herbivory. After discussing these previous hypotheses, a novel tritrophic hypothesis is introduced that proposes that foliar nyctinasty constitutes an indirect plant defence against nocturnal herbivores. It is suggested that the reduction in physical clutter that follows from nocturnal leaf closure may increase the foraging success of many types of animals that prey upon or parasitise herbivores. Predators and parasitoids generally use some combination of visual, auditory or olfactory cues to detect prey. In terrestrial environments, it is hypothesised that the vertical orientation of the blades of nyctinastic plants at night would be especially beneficial to flying nocturnal predators (e.g. bats and owls) and parasitoids whose modus operandi is death from above. The movements of prey beneath a plant with vertically oriented foliage would be visually more obvious to gleaning or swooping predators under nocturnal or crepuscular conditions. Such predators could also detect sounds made by prey better without baffling layers of foliage overhead to damp and disperse the signal. Moreover, any volatiles released by the prey would diffuse more directly to the awaiting olfactory apparatus of the predators or parasitoids. In addition to facilitating the demise of herbivores by carnivores and parasitoids, foliar nyctinasty, much like the enhanced illumination of the full moon, may mitigate feeding by nocturnal herbivores by altering their foraging behaviour. Foliar nyctinasty could also provide a competitive advantage by encouraging herbivores, seeking more cover, to forage on or around non-nyctinastic species. As an added advantage, foliar nyctinasty, by decreasing the temperature between plants through its effects on re-radiation, may slow certain types of ectothermic herbivores making them more vulnerable to predation. Foliar nyctinasty also may not solely be a behavioural adaptation against folivores; by discouraging foraging by granivores, the inclusive fitness of nyctinastic plants may be increased.

Key words: foliar nyctinasty, anti-herbivory, plant defence, tritrophic interactions, trophic facilitation, nocturnal carnivores, leaf movements.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	217
II.	Background information	217
III.	Previous hypotheses concerning the function of foliar nyctinasty	219
	(1) Improving the temperature relations of plants	219
	(2) Facilitating the shedding of water from leaves	220
	(a) Reducing nocturnal transpiration	221
	(b) Reducing the leaching of minerals from leaves	221
	(c) Reducing the need for leaf support tissue	221
	( <i>d</i> ) Preventing the growth of epiphylls and fungal pathogens	222
	(3) Reducing moonlight-induced disruption of photoperiodism	

<sup>\*</sup> Address for correspondence (Tel: 914-674-7549; E-mail: pminorsky@mercy.edu).

*Biological Reviews* 94 (2019) 216–229 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

(4) Bitrophic interactions	222
IV. The tritrophic hypothesis	223
(1) Facilitating hunting by nocturnal predators and parasitoids	
(a) Reducing physical clutter	
(b) Reducing acoustical clutter	224
(c) Enhancing light penetration	224
(d) Reducing turbulence within odour plumes	
(2) Indirect effects of foliar nyctinasty on the lunar phobia of small predators	
(3) Foliar nyctinasty and the foraging behaviour of herbivores	225
V. Future directions	
VI. Conclusions	225
VII. References	226
VIII. Supporting Information	229

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Those movements that plants undergo independently of the direction of the stimulus are collectively referred to as 'nastic movements'. Nastic movements that occur in leaves, flowers, cotyledons (Darwin, 1880) or branches (Puttonen *et al.*, 2016; Zlinszky, Molnár, & Barrfod, 2017) in response to the arrival of dusk and dawn are 'nyctinastic' (from Greek *nux*, *nukt*- 'night' + *nastos* 'pressed'). Foliar nyctinasty (FN), the topic of this review, is a plant behaviour characterised by a pronounced daily variation in leaf (and/or leaflet) orientation.

The leaves of plants exhibiting FN assume a more or less horizontal position during the day that optimises their ability to capture sunlight for photosynthesis. At night, the positions that the leaves assume, regardless of whether they arise by rising, falling or twisting, are essentially vertical. Although FN has attracted a modicum of interest from an applied perspective with regard to the optimal times for spraying fungicides (Augusto, Brenneman, & Culbreath, 2010) and herbicides (Sellers, Smeda, & Johnson, 2003), it is best known for its prominent role in the discovery of endogenous circadian rhythms (Bünning, 1931). Indeed, it is the chronobiological aspects of FN as well as the signal transduction mechanisms underlying such movements that have engendered the most interest from researchers (Ishimaru et al., 2012). In marked contrast to our progress relating to the physiological mechanisms underlying FN, the question of the function of FN, the topic of the present review, remains largely unsettled.

#### **II. BACKGROUND INFORMATION**

FN, often referred to as the 'sleep movements of leaves', is one of the oldest problems in botany, dating back to antiquity (Pfeffer, 1875). Some early scientists held the opinion that FN was a true manifestation of plant sleep, a sentiment suggested, for example, by *Somnus Plantarum*, the title of Linnaeus's contribution to the subject (Linnæo & Bremer,

1759). Even in its day, however, the notion that FN was an expression of plant sleep was contentious; in a published letter to Linnaeus, Hill (1762, p. iv) respectfully chided, 'The word Sleep, used on this occasion, will, I am afraid, appear to the judicious British eye, an affected, as well as improper term...' A century later Darwin (1880, pp. 280-281) echoed this view when he wrote, 'Hardly any one supposes that there is any real analogy between the sleep of animals and that of plants...' Even now, a quarter millennium after Linnaeus, no definitive evidence exists that plants are conscious, much less that they exhibit altered states of consciousness (e.g. sleep): thus, the admittedly less friendly term 'foliar nyctinasty' is preferred. Even the term 'nyctinasty', however, has its ambiguity: in some cases, it is used to describe only the nocturnal closure of leaves, while in others, such as here, it is used as umbrella term to describe both the closure of leaves near dusk and the re-opening of leaves near dawn.

In addition to Linnaeus, a second great mind attracted to the question of FN was Charles Darwin. It is a testament to Darwin's (1880) genius that his *Power of Movement in Plants*, which he researched with the assistance of his son, Francis, a plant physiologist, remains, more than a century after its publication, a logical starting point for a modern discussion of FN. Darwin (1880) reported the occurrence of FN in plants from 79 genera of dicotyledonous angiosperms, including 48 genera of Fabaceae, and representing seven families.

It should be noted that in compiling his list Darwin arbitrarily chose as a working definition of FN, leaf movements of more than  $60^{\circ}$  from the horizontal. Less-stringent criteria, of course, would expand the list of nyctinastic species but the extent to which they would do so is uncertain since the frequency of species in which FN is slight or fickle in nature is probably underreported. That a grey area exists between nyctinastic and non-nyctinastic is attested to by Darwin's (1880, p. 320) statement in reference to Linnaeus' *Somnus Plantarum*, that '[Linnaeus] *refers to some plants as sleeping, for instance*, Lathyrus odoratus and Vicia faba, in which we could observe no movement deserving to be called sleep, and as no one can doubt the accuracy of Linnaeus, we are left in doubt'.

Since more than a century has passed since Darwin's (1880) survey, an updated list of over 200 genera reported to exhibit FN has been provided (see online Supporting information, Appendix S1). These genera occur in 38 families. It should be noted that the genera listed in Appendix S1 may not necessarily adhere to Darwin's (1880) criterion that the movements be more than  $60^{\circ}$ , and that the references supplied do not imply priority of discovery. In any case, as in Darwin's day, the family with the highest number of nyctinastic species by far is the legume family (Fabaceae) but FN is by no means limited to the Fabaceae or even the eudicots: FN is also found in an aquatic fern (*Marsilea*), a gymnosperm (*Abies*) and more than a few monocots.

Although taxonomic surveys of the occurrence of FN remain of interest, more light might be shed on the question of the function of FN by considering the taxonomically disparate species in which it occurs as a behaviour-based functional group. A striking feature of this functional group is its extreme heterogeneity in terms of its members' other attributes. Examples of FN can be found in plants adapted to xeric, mesic or aquatic environments, in species indigenous to tropical or temperate zones, and in forbs, shrubs and tall trees. This heterogeneity suggests that FN has arisen in different taxa by evolutionary convergence, an idea supported by several other lines of evidence.

First, there are two broad types of FN, pulvinar and non-pulvinar (Wetherell, 1990). In some species, FN movements are achieved by motor cells located in pulvini, the enlarged bases of leaf (or leaflet) stalks that undergo marked changes in turgor, leading to movements of the leaf or leaflet. FN can also occur in plants lacking pulvini; in these cases, FN arises from the differential growth of opposite sides of elongating leaf stalks (Wetherell, 1990). Since growth variations as well pulvinar changes are associated with changes in turgor, the distinction between pulvinar and non-pulvinar FN may be a matter of degree and intra-plant localisation rather than a fundamental difference in mechanism (Rivière, Derr, & Douady, 2017).

Second, there appears to be an enormous variety in the biochemical mechanisms underlying FN (Ueda, Shigemori, & Sata, 2000). Ueda's laboratory has isolated leaf-opening and leaf-closing chemicals from a variety of nyctinastic plants, and the general lesson to be learned is that each plant genus seems to use a completely different suite of chemicals to effect foliar nyctinastic movements.

Third, species use different types of movements to achieve the nocturnal vertical orientation, bending either towards the abaxial side or toward the adaxial side or, more rarely, by twisting to the vertical plane. For example, in Darwin's (1880) list of nyctinastic genera, the leaves of 37 genera rose at night, whereas those of 32 genera sunk.

From an evolutionary perspective, it would seem that the direction of leaf movement used to effect FN is surprisingly labile. There are interesting cases of different species within a single genus exhibiting strikingly different types of nyctinastic movements. For example, in *Desmanthus bicornutus*, FN involves both the pinnae and the petioles moving downward

at night, whereas in *D. virgatus*, the pinnae and petiole both rise at night. The FN of a third *Desmanthus* species, D. leptophyllus is similar to that of D. bicornutus except that its leaves do not employ a pulvinus at the base of its petiole to achieve a collapsed condition at night but rather a downward arching of its rachis (Luckow, 1993). Other examples exist of congeneric species showing very different types of nyctinastic movements (Darwin, 1880, 1881; Harshberger, 1922; Hughes, 1998). Different types of nyctinastic movements can even be found in ecotypes of the same species: Lavin (1988) reported that in Coursetia heterantha, the leaves of the squat, rosette forms found at elevations above 2000 m undergo downward movement at night, while the lankier ecotypes from the lowlands demonstrate upward movement. Thus, it seems that FN has disappeared in certain lines and arisen anew over the course of evolution. The idea that leaf movements in general are evolutionarily labile gains immense support from the molecular phylogenetic evidence that seismonasty (shaking-induced movements) may have evolved independently in eight lineages of Mimosa alone (Simon et al., 2011).

Some authors have attached theoretical importance to the general finding that the occurrence of FN in plants is closely correlated with those species' ability to perform other types of leaf movements, particularly photo-induced leaf movements (e.g. Forseth, 1990). As Darwin (1880, p. 281) noted, however, 'The leaves of some few plants move either upwards or downwards when the sun shines intensely on them, and this movement has sometimes been called diurnal sleep; but we believe it to be of an essentially different nature from the nocturnal movement.... Although there is a strong correspondence between the respective occurrences of photo-induced leaf movements and nyctinasty in plant species, this correspondence is not perfect. Crotolaria semperflorens, Desmodium parviflorum (Pearson, 1899), Sophora alopecuroides (Zhu et al., 2015) and Zornia diphylla (Pearson, 1899; Rodrigues & Machado, 2008), for example, undergo photo-induced but not nyctinastic movements. Conversely, Pycnospora hedysaroides, Atylosia candollei (Pearson, 1899) and Talinum triangulare (Holdsworth, 1959) demonstrate nyctinastic but not photo-induced leaf movements. Other differences between photonasty and FN have been reported as well. Pearson (1899) noted that the diurnal, light-avoiding movement of the rachis of Biophytum proliferum occurs in a completely opposite direction from its nocturnal nyctinastic movement. Another interesting case is Robinia pseudoacacia, in which the respective motor activities underlying FN and photonasty occur in different parts of its compound leaves: FN is associated with changes in the angle between the petiolule and the leaflet blade, while photonastic reorientation results from changes in the angle between the petiolule and the rachis (Liu et al., 2007).

Before discussing previous proposals concerning the function of FN, it is germane to address the question of just how critical FN is to plant survival. Thoughts concerning this matter cover the full range from FN being critical for survival (Ueda *et al.*, 2002) to FN serving no purpose whatsoever (Semon, 1905, 1908). Based on their finding that the chemical

inhibition of FN caused certain leguminous plants to wither and die, Ueda *et al.* (2002) concluded that FN was critical for the survival of those species exhibiting this behaviour. Unfortunately, the pharmacology of the chemicals that these researchers used to inhibit leaf movements is poorly understood, and their lethal effects could be unrelated to their effects on FN. Semon (1905, 1908), on the other hand, working from a Lamarckian perspective, suggested that FN was a 'genetic memory' of the movements that the plant's progenitors had made in response to diurnal changes in light and temperature. Since the Lamarckian viewpoint was long ago discredited, Semon's hypothesis is a historical footnote deserving no further discussion.

Given that most plant species do not exhibit FN, these movements clearly are not critical for plant survival in general. Rather, FN is likely a useful adaptation for those plants that exhibit it but one that has some energetic cost associated with it. Movement, after all, is a form of work, and work requires energy.

Based on the physiological and pharmacological similarities of pulvinar motor cells and the guard cells that regulate stomatal aperture, Gorton (1990, p. 223) suggested that a pulvinus could be usefully compared to 'a bunch of guard cells packed together'. The first proteomic study of pulvinar motor cells seems largely to support this idea (Lee et al., 2014). Since there is a bioenergetic cost associated with guard cell swelling (Assmann & Zeiger, 1987), it seems a safe assumption that there is an energetic cost associated with the iterative movements that define FN. Whichever side of the pulvinus or petiole that loses turgor in the pre-dusk hours has to regain turgor in the pre-dawn. The returgescence (swelling) of the motor cells ultimately depends upon the activity of ATP-dependent H<sup>+</sup> pumps (Ishimaru *et al.*, 2012). As such, there must be some benefit accrued to the organisms that display FN, but what is it? The next section reviews previous hypotheses concerning the raison d'être of FN.

## III. PREVIOUS HYPOTHESES CONCERNING THE FUNCTION OF FOLIAR NYCTINASTY

Previous hypotheses have sought to explain FN as a physiological adaptation to abiotic factors, such as temperature, moisture or light, or as a direct defence against herbivory. Beginning with Darwin's (1880) hypothesis that FN is a mechanism for preventing heat loss from plants, these disparate hypotheses are discussed in turn.

#### (1) Improving the temperature relations of plants

Darwin (1880) suggested that FN may influence a leaf's net radiation balance both by reducing the exposure of the leaf blade to the cold night sky, and by increasing the leaf blade's exposure to laterally situated objects of greater warmth. Thus, Darwin viewed FN as a mechanism for avoiding frost (or chill) damage. In support of this idea, Darwin performed experiments which showed that *Oxalis* and *Trifolium* leaves pinned down in a horizontal orientation suffered frost damage on clear autumnal nights while leaves pinned in a vertical position on the same plant showed little damage. He concluded that on clear nights vertical leaves are warmer than horizontal leaves and that the vertical orientation protects the leaves from frost damage during light frost.

There is no doubt that the ability of a plant to stay a fraction of a thermal degree above the threshold temperature for frost (or chill) damage might mean the difference between surviving or not. There is also experimental evidence suggesting that FN influences the temperature of plants albeit to a small extent. Schwintzer (1971) determined that horizontally placed soybean (*Glycine max*) leaves radiate more heat to space than vertically placed leaves but the effect on plant temperature was exceedingly small – less than  $1^{\circ}$ C.

Schwintzer (1971) cautioned, moreover, that Darwin's results may have arisen artefactually because the corks to which he pinned the leaves may have decreased convection. Another concern with Darwin's (1880) hypothesis is its applicability to all environments. Freezing conditions, for example, are never encountered in the tropics where the Fabaceae evolved and, for the most part, still make their home (Herendeen, Crepet, & Dilcher, 1992). In nature, most plant species live their entire lives within the limits of the upper and lower limits of their individual 'cardinal temperatures'. Individuals that suffer too much from drops in temperature are soon culled by that least solicitous of forces - natural selection. Of course, there may occasionally be a 'cold front of the century' that leads to the local mass death of a given plant species but there are usually reserves of dispersed seeds present that are poised to germinate in the wake of such a calamity. Moreover, it seems unlikely that any given species would have evolved a behavioural adaptation that would permit them to escape such freak weather, and that there must be a selective advantage in practicing this energetically costly behaviour nightly throughout the long, warm growing season.

Another difficulty with Darwin's (1880) hypothesis is that plant movements become ever feebler as the threshold temperature for injury is approached. For example, in pinto bean plants (*Phaseolus vulgaris*), no significant rhythm was found in the leaf movements at 10°C, and FN ceased within 1 day at 5°C (Hoshizaki & Hamner, 1969). Similarly, Gadeceau (1926) reported that the leaves of *Oxalis tetraphylla* remained open at night when the temperature was 5°C.

Although the considerations in the preceding paragraphs would seem to trivialise frost protection *per se* as the primary function of FN, it should be borne in mind that heat conservation caused by FN may benefit in a more substantive way a few species growing in unusual circumstances. Indeed, there can be little doubt that nyctinastic closure at night does affect the temperature relations of some equatorial montane plants that are routinely subjected to extreme diurnal swings in temperature as well as freezing temperatures almost every night (Smith, 1974; Beck *et al.*, 1982). For example, the leaves of *Espeletia schultzii*, a high-altitude shrub endemic to the Andes, close upward and inward at night giving the entire plant the appearance of a giant bud. Smith (1974) provided evidence that formation of these 'night buds' results in a damping of the diurnal temperature fluctuations. When 'night-bud' formation was prevented by means of stiff wires, the nocturnal bud core temperature fell from  $2.0^{\circ}$ C to  $-0.3^{\circ}$ C.

Although Darwin's ideas about FN as an adaptation to avoid freezing stress, except in the special case of tropical alpine plants, have not gained many adherents, they did inspire others to examine the question of whether FN enhances the temperature of plants within their individual cardinal temperatures. This revised version of Darwin's (1880) hypothesis proposed that FN may simply promote the growth of plants by keeping them a fraction of a degree warmer at night and thereby enhancing growth. Enright (1982) tested this hypothesis by constraining the primary leaves of Phaseolus coccineus in vertical or horizontal positions from dusk to dawn for a period of several days. In seeming support of this revised version of Darwin's hypothesis, leaves that were constrained in a horizontal position for the night grew at only 71-84% of the rate of vertically clamped leaves.

Although Enright's (1982) work is currently one of the more favourably cited studies concerning the function of FN, several aspects of his methodology deserve closer scrutiny. Plants are exquisitely sensitive to touch; even measuring leaves with a ruler can inhibit their elongation (Beardsell, 1977; Klaring, 1999). Enright (1982) assumed he had circumvented the problem of plants' acute sensitivity to handling by comparing vertically and horizontally clamped leaves that presumably had been handled equally. Although the handling of the plants during their initial shackling may have been similar, the pressures of the constrained plants against their bonds over the course of the long night were undoubtedly not the same: the horizontally restrained plants spent the night straining futilely to achieve a vertical posture, whereas the vertically clamped leaves rested comfortably in their normal nocturnal position. Although no plant biologist has apparently pondered the physiology of 'bean leaves in bondage', it is reasonable to speculate that the straining of plants in such circumstances might elicit an iterative train of mechanical responses throughout the period of bondage. Indeed, nyctinastic closure is not a smooth process, and may occur in a jerky manner (Darwin, 1880; Dun & Thakurta, 1959). It is conceivable that each jerk may elicit a mechanical response. Mechanical stress is known to elicit a travelling, growth-inhibiting signal in plants (Erner, Biro, & Jaffe, 1980; Coutand & Moulia, 2000). Thus, it is conceivable that inhibition of growth in horizontally clamped leaves may have less to do with differences in temperature than with differences in mechanical stress.

Finally, all hypotheses based on the idea that the *raison* d'être of FN is related to its effects on plant temperatures fail to explain why some submerged plants, including *Myriophyllum* (Wächter, 1909), *Limnophila* (Goebel, 1908), *Cabomba*, *Hygrophila* and *Rotala* (P. V. Minorsky, unpublished observations) also display FN. Because of the high volumetric

heat capacity of water as compared to air, the amplitude of diurnal temperature changes in a body of water is essentially nil compared to diurnal temperature changes on land. Clearly, FN is not an adaptation that affects the temperature relations of aquatic plants.

#### (2) Facilitating the shedding of water from leaves

Another explanation pertaining to the function of FN is that it is an adaptation for facilitating the shedding from leaf surfaces of water deposited by dew (Stahl, 1897) or rain (Dean & Smith, 1978). As one might expect, the leaf angle changes effected by FN do facilitate the shedding of water from leaves (Dean & Smith, 1978; Gitari, 1986). Dean & Smith (1978), for example, measured water runoff from horizontal ( $\sim 0^{\circ}$ ) and inclined ( $\sim 45^{\circ}$ ) Machaerium arborium leaflets. After nine minutes the upper surfaces of all the inclined leaves (N = 10) were dry compared to only two (20%) of the horizontally placed leaves. While the matter requires more systematic study, it would appear that the leaf angles associated with the nocturnal positions of nyctinastic plants might be expected to hasten the shedding of water from leaf surfaces by tens of minutes, perhaps as much as an hour or more.

No consensus exists, however, as to why the nocturnal shedding of leaf surface moisture is beneficial to the plant. In the daily life of the plant the major effect of leaf wetness is to impede photosynthesis: this is because  $CO_2$  diffuses about 10000 times more slowly through water than air (Smith & McClean, 1989). Although it might be assumed that the orientation of leaves at night would have no bearing on photosynthetic production, Forseth (1990) has pointed out that in the case of dew, surface wetness may cause a short-lived reduction in photosynthesis during the very early morning before the leaf surfaces dry completely (Forseth, 1990).

Because leaf surface moisture during the day inhibits photosynthesis, plants inhabiting rainy terrestrial environments have evolved a variety of adaptations, such as smooth cuticles, non-horizontal leaf angles, certain forms of pubescence, and drip-tips, for quickly shedding water from their foliage. Unlike FN, these anatomical adaptations for reducing leaf wetness are effective night and day. Of course, if nocturnal rainfall were especially problematic in certain environments such as tropical rainforests, it is possible that a strictly nocturnal ancillary mechanism, such as FN, might confer an additional selective advantage. But nocturnal rainfall is not especially common in the tropics. Most tropical regions have a fairly predictable cycle of weather dictated by temperature and humidity. Early morning mists (caused by cooling at night) evaporate as the sun rises, and by late morning these convection currents begin to rise from the forest. Clouds form and by late afternoon these have often turned to storm clouds (Park, 2002). The convective rainstorms that ensue are generally intense but of short duration. Late afternoon rain is more common than nocturnal rain in most inland parts of the tropics and sub-tropics (Yang & Smith, 2006).

Anatomical adaptations for shedding leaf moisture represent for plants a one-time investment of energy per leaf, unlike FN, which is a daily, recurring investment. Insofar as investments go, FN does not appear to be a particularly efficient water shedding mechanism. For example, it has been a general finding that the adhesion of water to leaf surfaces increases as the leaf ages (Neinhuis & Barthlott, 1998), possibly because older leaves are typically more heavily colonised by epiphytes or have suffered losses of epicuticular wax because of high precipitation totals and greater longevity (Knoll & Schreiber, 2000; Holder, 2007). Given these considerations, one might reasonably hypothesise that there would be selective pressure to 'fine tune' FN so that the older leaves are more strongly nyctinastic than the younger: in fact, it is generally the younger leaves of nyctinastic plants that undergo the most pronounced movements (Cunningham, 1895; Yin, 1941).

Hypotheses that propose that FN is an adaptation for shedding water from leaf surfaces raise the question of why having wet leaves at night is disadvantageous to plants. Dean & Smith (1978) provided a list of four ideas why water retention on the leaf surface at night could be maladaptive: (i) a reduction in transpiration in poorly drained leaves may slow growth rates by reducing the rates of nutrient uptake and transport (also proposed by Stahl, 1897); (ii)prolonged wetness may enhance the leaching of minerals from leaves; (iii) the weight of the water retained on leaves may necessitate more energy investment in support tissue; (iv) a lingering wet film, especially if it contains ions, may provide a more favourable habitat for pathogens and light-intercepting, foliar epiphytes. These ideas are discussed in turn below.

#### (a) Reducing nocturnal transpiration

The idea that FN benefits plants by reducing leaf wetness can be traced to Stahl (1897), who considered FN to be a means for preventing the accumulation of dew on leaf surfaces. He proposed that dew may be injurious to plants inasmuch as it slows transpiration so long as the leaves are wet. A low rate of transpiration, he reasoned, would lower the uptake of mineral salts by the roots, which would be disadvantageous to the plant.

One weakness inherent in Stahl's explanation is that there is relatively little transpiration at night since the stomata of plants are typically closed. Of course, there is a growing appreciation that some plants do transpire at night albeit at a rate only 5-15% of that during the day (Caird, Richards, & Donovan, 2007; Forster, 2014). Nocturnal transpiration is a poorly understood phenomenon but it can be significant in some species. Caird *et al.* (2007) provide a list of almost 60 genera in which nocturnal transpiration occurs, but species exhibiting FN are not disproportionately represented in this list. A second problem with Stahl's hypothesis is that there is little experimental support for the idea that transpiration benefits plants by enhancing nutrient supply (Tanner & Beevers, 2001; Christman, Donovan, & Richards, 2009; however, *cf.* Matimati, Verboom, & Cramer, 2014).

Contrary to Stahl's idea that FN might enhance nocturnal transpiration to the benefit of the plant, it appears that a reduction of nocturnal transpiration by FN may, in fact, be useful to certain plants endemic to xeric environments (Gadeceau, 1926; Luckow, 2002). Some researchers have noted a correspondence between the stomatal distribution of leaflets and their method of nyctinastic folding (Erban, 1916; Luckow, 2002). Luckow (2002), for example, noted that in members of the dry-adapted Dichrostachys group of legumes, the leaflets fold in such a manner that only the abaxial surface is exposed, the stomata-rich adaxial surface thus being covered at night. Luckow (2002) further noted that many Dichrostachys species have stomata confined to a particular region of the leaflet, and that these regions are precisely those that are covered by a neighbouring leaflet when the leaf assumes its nocturnal position. Thus, in plant species adapted to xeric conditions, FN may actually help to reduce water loss at night (Gadeceau, 1926; Luckow, 2002).

#### (b) Reducing the leaching of minerals from leaves

Foliar leaching is broadly defined as the removal of substances from plant leaves by action of rain, dew, fog or leaf washing (Tukey, 1970). It is not clear, however, from a plant's perspective whether foliar leaching is beneficial or detrimental. Some researchers have considered foliar leaching to be an excretion process by which waste products or possibly allelochemicals are eliminated. Indeed, much of the leachate apparently derives from hydathodes and glandular trichomes (Tukey, 1970).

It is also not clear that prolonged leaf wetness leads to more leaching than short-duration wetness. Mecklenburg (1964) reported that leaves need only to be wetted for leaching to occur: increasing the volume of the leaching solution had very little effect on the total amounts of cations leached. Thus, the rapidity with which leaves dry would seem to have little effect on the amount of foliar leaching. Finally, if the amelioration of foliar leaching was the raison d'être for FN, one would expect the older leaves, from which nearly all the leachates derive (Cholodny, 1932; Arens, 1934), would have the most dramatic nyctinastic leaf movements but in the case of the pulvinar FN of Cassia sumatrana (Cunningham, 1895) and Oxalis spp. (Gadeceau, 1926), and the non-pulvinar FN of Carica papaya (Yin, 1941) and Linum usitatissimum (Ahktar, 1974), the opposite occurs. The water-shedding hypothesis also fails to explain the occurrence of FN in aquatic plants.

#### (c) Reducing the need for leaf support tissue

Dean & Smith (1978) provide no evidence to support their speculation that plants exhibiting FN allocate less energy towards the production of support tissue. It is also unclear whether any energetic savings stemming from reduced support tissue would outweigh the daily energetic cost of FN. Of course, support tissues do fail in nature but they do so under extraordinary circumstances. Those who have studied

mechanical leaf failure in nature cite not mundane forces such as rain but rather falling debris (leaf fronds and branches) or extreme weather (e.g. hurricanes) as the primary cause of mechanical failure in leaves (Chazdon, 1986). Leaves have invariably been moulded by natural selection to withstand ordinary mechanical stresses, for example, the weight of a tree frog or a gecko or a perching bird, that are orders of magnitude greater than the weight of adhering rainwater. Rain simply does not cause leaves to be shed unless the leaves are damaged, sick or dying, in which case, their abscission is probably beneficial.

#### (d) Preventing the growth of epiphylls and fungal pathogens

Dean & Smith (1978) proposed that nyctinastic leaves by virtue of their quicker drying properties might suffer less from shading epiphylls than do non-nyctinastic leaves. However, if one considers another morphological adaptation that drains leaf surfaces more quickly, namely drip-tips, the evidence suggests that the quicker drying of leaves has no demonstrable effect on the colonisation of the leaf surface by epiphylls (Ivey & DeSilva, 2001; Lücking & Bernecker-Lücking, 2005; Burd, 2007). Moreover, the common assumption that epiphytes are disadvantageous to plants because they block light absorption by host leaves has not been borne out by experimentation (Roskoski, 1981; Anthony, Holtum, & Jackes, 2002).

A possibly more tenable hypothesis is that nyctinastic leaves, by virtue of their quicker drying properties, might suffer less from foliar pathogens. Some support for this idea comes from Ivey & DeSilva's (2001) observation that the removal of drip-tips from tropical understorey trees reduced the rate of water removal from leaves and led to a 1.7-fold increase in the occurrence of fungi on the surface of the leaves. Unfortunately, given the complexity of the phyllosphere community that includes, from the plant's perspective, both friend and foe, it is too simplistic to assume that the greater occurrence of fungi on the surface of the leaf is necessarily a harbinger of imminent disease and death. Not all phyllospheric fungi are harmful (Javapal Gowdu & Balasubramanian, 1988). Phyllospheric yeasts, for example, may protect the plant against phytopathogens by successfully competing for nutrients (Fokkema et al., 1979) or producing defence chemicals (McCormack, Wildman, & Jeffries, 1994).

The above considerations aside, the duration of leaf wetness is generally recognised as an important factor in the development and outbreak of plant diseases because many phytopathogens require a layer of free water for successful infection (Cook, 1980; Huber & Gillespie, 1992; Bradley, Gilbert, & Parker, 2003; Rowlandson *et al.*, 2015). The infection efficiencies of pathogens on wet leaves typically increase sigmoidally over time (Spotts, 1977; Gross *et al.*, 1998). Conceivably, if FN could reduce leaf wetness duration during the exponential phase of these curves, FN might be effective in reducing pathogen infection, especially if fungal spores are more plentiful at night (Gilbert & Reynolds, 2005). This raises the question of just how effective FN is in decreasing the duration of leaf wetness relative

to other leaf adaptations. Compared to leaf smoothness and hydrophobicity, leaf angle is of surprisingly minor significance in facilitating the shedding of agricultural sprays (Wirth, Storp, & Jacobsen, 1991) and water (Holder, 2012) from leaves.

## (3) Reducing moonlight-induced disruption of photoperiodism

Bünning & Moser (1969) expressed the view that FN is particularly pronounced in 'short-day' plants that require uninterrupted darkness of a critical length in order to flower, and based on this premise for which they offer no evidence they proposed that FN might serve to protect the photoperiodic timekeeping system from moonlight since lunar irradiance during the night might interfere with the accurate measurement of night length in short-day plants. This hypothesis was tested by Kadman-Zahavi & Peiper (1987) and largely rejected, the authors concluding (p. 621), 'that in the natural environment moonlight may have at most only a slight delaying effect on the time of flower induction in short-day plants'. Also, contrary to Bünning & Moser's (1969) hypothesis are field observations to the effect that under brightly moonlit nights, the nyctinastic movements of some FN plants undergo anomalous reversals in the middle of the night (Ulrich, 1911; Gates, 1923).

#### (4) Bitrophic interactions

Grubb & Jackson (2007) suggested that the apposition of the leaflets during FN makes foraging more difficult for nocturnal herbivores. Of all the hypotheses discussed so far, this hypothesis is closest to the tritrophic hypothesis presented herein in that it views FN as a behaviour that deters herbivores. Unlike the tritrophic hypothesis, however, Grubb & Jackson (2007) focus on bitrophic interactions, namely how folded leaves might affect the access to and handling of leaf material by small folivores. Another difference between the two hypotheses is that the tritrophic hypothesis is not limited to folivores. For example, by facilitating the killing of granivores (e.g. rodents) by nocturnal birds of prey (e.g. owls), FN may also increase a plant's inclusive fitness.

Some other possible bitrophic interactions relating to leaf movements and herbivory are suggested by hypotheses concerning the raison d'être of the very rapid leaf movements executed by a few plant species such as Mimosa pudica in response to wounding, shaking or touch. Bose (1926), for example, proposed that the rapid closure of Mimosa pudica leaves in response to grazers might render the plant less obvious and, therefore, less appetizing to large herbivores. In regard to Mimosa he noted (p. 200), 'Nothing could be more striking than the rapid change by which a patch of vivid green becomes transformed into thin lines of dull green unnoticed against the dark ground. The plant thus saves itself by literally 'lying low' and becoming invisible'. It is possible that FN, by effecting a similar decrease in noticeability, may reduce herbivory, especially under crepuscular conditions.

Eisner (1981), on the other hand, suggested that the leaf movements of Mimosa microphylla (formerly Schrankia *microphylla*), including FN, may serve an aposematic function, by making the recurved prickles (not thorns as stated) lining its stem, petiole and rachis, more visible to herbivores. He envisioned that such 'baring of claws' might deter browsing by large mammals and also reduce trampling. In general, however, small, unidirectional, recurved prickles, such as those found on M. microphylla, are not major deterrents to large, browsing herbivores but rather serve as deterrents to the movements of small crawling insects which presumably would be less influenced by the more macroscopic changes in visibility effected by FN (Vermeij, 2015). Moreover, if the greater visibility of spinous processes is the overarching strategy of a given plant's defence, would there not be a selective pressure in having such processes always visible? This would seem to be the strategy of the touch-sensitive Mimosa pigra leaf that has long, formidable, and obvious spines lining its rachis and jutting at right angles from the leaf's surface.

FN may indeed serve as a deterrent to herbivores by making it more difficult to see access or handle leafy fodder. However, such bitrophic interactions between plants and herbivores do not contradict but complement the tritrophic hypothesis discussed next.

#### IV. THE TRITROPHIC HYPOTHESIS

To understand plant/herbivore interactions, it is necessary to consider tritrophic mechanisms in addition to bitrophic ones. To quote Price *et al.* (1980, p. 41), '... *plants have many effects, direct and indirect, positive and negative, not only on herbivores but also on the enemies of herbivores. The third trophic level must be considered as part of a plant's battery of defenses against herbivores'.* Given that FN occurs in tropical plants and temperate plants, in small herbs and large trees, and in desert, mesic and aquatic plants, it is difficult to conceive of a major abiotic parameter such as water, temperature or light that might serve as the driving force for the convergent evolution of FN. Is it possible that FN has evolved in many cases as a plant defence against herbivory?

According to one recent analysis, on average, 5.3% of leaf biomass in vascular plants is consumed annually by herbivores (Turcotte *et al.*, 2014). The effects of folivores on plant production and fitness, however, extend beyond the quantity of biomass removed because folivory alters photosynthetic rates at a considerable distance from the damaged tissue (Zangerl *et al.*, 2002). Herbivore damage also induces some plants to divert resources from growth to defence (Coley, 1986). Additionally, the wounding of plant tissue by herbivores opens up portals for infection by pathogens. It is not surprising therefore, that the exclosure of nocturnal primary carnivores has been found to decrease plant productivity (Ward & Newman, 2006; Kalka, Smith, & Kalko, 2008; Williams-Guillen, Perfecto, & Vandermeer, 2008). FN is not a universal behaviour shared by all plants. The Fabaceae, the third largest family of plants, is notable for the high incidence of FN amongst its members. Grubb & Jackson (2007) suggested that the unusually high incidence of FN in the Fabaceae may be related to the high nitrogen (N) titres of their leaves. Although it is often assumed that the high N titre of legume leaves is related to the symbiotic associations that nodulating legumes form with N<sub>2</sub>-fixing rhizobial bacteria, in fact, N-rich leaves are typical of both nodulating and non-nodulating legumes (McKey, 1994). The advantage of N-rich leaves is that they have higher photosynthetic rates, assuming there are no other limitations to carbon assimilation. Thus, under favourable conditions of temperature, water and light, such as are found in the tropics where the Fabaceae are believed to have evolved, the N-rich

plant species with lower N concentrations. There is a drawback to having leaves (and seeds and fruits) with high N titres: since the N content of fodder is often a major determinant of food quality (Mattson, 1980; Minkenberg & Fredrix, 1989; Kursar & Coley, 2003), leaves with high N titres are especially desirable to many types of herbivores. Although the legumes, in general, are well-defended against generalist herbivores by their chemical defences, they do suffer herbivore damage. There is, for example, no shortage of insects whose common name includes a legume (Mexican bean beetle, cowpea aphid, pea moth, bean leafroller, pea thrip, etc.). Indeed, insect pests are considered to be the main factor limiting legume production in the tropics (Singh & van Emden, 1979). In any case, as formidable as the chemical arsenals of legumes may or may not be, as Agrawal (2011, p. 420) has noted, 'Essentially all plants employ several different lines of defence against herbivory'.

leaves of legumes are more productive than the leaves of

The tritrophic hypothesis of FN suggests that by facilitating hunting by nocturnal carnivores, FN constitutes an indirect plant defence against nocturnal herbivores. It is argued that FN indirectly discourages herbivory in two ways: (i) by facilitating the killing of herbivores by nocturnal predators, and (ii) by hindering the foraging behaviour of herbivores. An additional consequence of this second point is that if herbivores are spending less time foraging amidst nyctinastic species, they are presumably spending more time foraging amidst non-nyctinastic competitors.

## (1) Facilitating hunting by nocturnal predators and parasitoids

Given nature's diverse menagerie of nocturnal predators as well as the myriad ways in which they hunt, it is not feasible to consider every theoretical implication of the tritrophic hypothesis. Therefore, the following discussion focusses on four specific mechanisms by which FN might facilitate the nocturnal hunting of various herbivores; the reduction of physical clutter, the reduction of acoustical clutter, the enhancement of nocturnal light penetration, and the reduction of turbulence during the dispersion of volatile plumes.

#### (a) Reducing physical clutter

The nocturnal folding of leaf blades transforms the physical landscape of the canopy. Viewed from above, the pattern of vegetation is transformed from a diffuse pattern to a more punctate one: between these points are enhanced interstices that could presumably serve as effective 'kill zones' for many nocturnal predators. The reduction in vegetative clutter effected by FN would neither occur at every spatial scale nor in every vector but for relatively large terrestrial predators such as bats and owls whose modus operandi is death from above. FN could conceivably facilitate their ability to detect. identify, approach and subdue prey (Brigham et al., 1997; Ciechanowski et al., 2007). Depending on the size and density of the stand of nyctinastic plants, FN might also facilitate prev capture by predators operating in the horizontal plane. If the stand is not too dense, nocturnal prey that are small enough to hide behind the more columnar, nocturnal profiles of nyctinastic plants may escape detection by predators, while larger prey whose bodies protrude into the interstices may be more vulnerable.

Physical clutter is detrimental to the foraging of many predators. In some cases, clutter can lead to physical injury to less-adroit predators (Holt & Layne, 2008). Even for more dexterous predators, there is an energetic cost associated with following the circuitous paths of attack necessitated by physical clutter as well as a diminished percentage of successful strikes. Rainho, Augusto & Palmeirim (2010), for example, found that ground vegetation clutter greatly reduced the access of the greater mouse-eared bat (Myotis *myotis*) to prey, affecting both capture success and time to capture. Bats detected prey in the dense vegetation but did not attempt to capture them or did so only after a prolonged delay. The bats' attempts often failed, because the bats landed over prey with open wings, and the dense vegetation prevented them from reaching the ground. A second example of clutter decreasing the foraging success of nocturnal predators is the finding that the average mass of the stomach quantities occurring in juvenile bluegill sunfish (Lepomis macrochirus) decreased as plant density increased even though more potential prev occur in dense stands of vegetation (Harrel & Dibble, 2001).

FN might also indirectly and negatively impact the speed of herbivorous ectotherms traversing the interstitial 'kill zones' making them easier targets for predators. This is because the larger gaps in the canopy resulting from nyctinastic leaf movements would cause more radiative heat loss from the ground to the night sky, thereby lowering the temperature between plants, and, hence the speed of ectotherms.

#### (b) Reducing acoustical clutter

FN would also be expected to reduce 'acoustic clutter' in the vertical vector. Since vegetation is known to absorb acoustic energy (Martens & Michelsen, 1981; Price, Attenborough, & Heap, 1988), nocturnal predators, such as bats and owls, should be better able to detect sounds (and echoes) made by

prey without baffling layers of foliage to damp and disperse the signal (Arlettaz, Jones, & Racey, 2001).

#### (c) Enhancing light penetration

FN, by increasing light penetrance through the canopy, would also effectively 'shine light' on the hiding places and transit paths of potential prey. Augusto et al. (2010), for example, studying peanut (Arachis hypogaea), noted that as a result of night leaf folding, the otherwise thick canopy becomes sparser to such a degree that even the soil surface is often visible. Karve et al. (1984), also studying peanut, found that during the daytime, when the leaves were horizontally situated, only 10% of the incident light reached the ground but at night, when the leaves assumed a vertical position, 70-90% of the incident light penetrated. Similarly, Kraatz & Anderson (1980) calculated that FN in sicklepod (Cassia obtusifolia) resulted in a nightly sevenfold reduction in the leaf area observed from a vantage point directly above the plant. It is reasonable to propose, therefore, that the movements of prey beneath a plant with vertically oriented foliage would be visually more obvious to a gleaning predator under crepuscular or nocturnal conditions. Even modest increases in night illumination enhance prey capture rates by many nocturnal carnivores (Dice, 1945; Gardner, 1981).

#### (d) Reducing turbulence within odour plumes

Under the low-light conditions of night, odours and other volatiles grow in importance as predatory cues. Parasitoid wasps, and some nocturnal predators, rely heavily on herbivore-induced plant volatiles to locate prey. The spatial matrix of volatiles within which predators locate their hosts consists of assemblages of odour plumes (volatile mosaics) scattered across space. The structural complexity of vegetation can potentially decrease the spatial information provided by such volatile mosaics by enhancing the mixing of odour plumes (Randlkofer et al., 2010; Aartsma et al., 2017). Odour plumes in contrasting habitats have different shapes and sizes due to differences in wind speed and turbulence (Finelli et al., 2000; Murlis, Willis, & Cardé, 2000). Even modest changes in wind speed can affect insect foraging behaviour (Leonard, McArthur, & Hochuli, 2016). Thus, FN, by reducing vegetative clutter, would allow odours released by potential prey to disperse more directly to the awaiting olfactory apparatus of predators.

## (2) Indirect effects of foliar nyctinasty on the lunar phobia of small predators

Another environmental influence besides FN that enhances the nocturnal light reaching the ground is the occurrence of the full moon. The phase of the moon affects animals differently depending on whether they are predators, prey or both. When high levels of light penetrate the canopy on the brightest of moonlit nights, small carnivores, such as insectivorous bats (Lang *et al.*, 2006; Ciechanowski *et al.*, 2007) or ichneumonid wasps (Short, Schmidt, & Steinbauer, 2006), that are themselves at risk of predation, are less active or avoid more open areas, a behaviour called 'lunar phobia'.

The intensity of moonlight also affects nyctinastic behaviour. Ulrich (1911, p. 226), in a field study of FN in the Oxalidaceae, noted in the case of Oxalis stricta, that, 'A very singular series of risings was observed on five successive nights about the middle of August. Instead of waking at 3 A.M., it started to rise at 11 P.M. The rising was gradual until about half the day angle was reached: there it remained until 7 A.M. These nights were brightly lit up by the full moon, and the regularity with which it occurred forced one to believe that it was due to the light of the moon'. Similarly, Gates (1923) reported that several tropical leguminous trees in the Philippines, most dramatically *Gliricidia sepium*, anomalously open their leaves in the middle of the night when the moon was particularly bright, and Harshberger (1922, p. 146), studying FN in Trifolium spp., expressed the view that, 'Some changes in the curves of the night period suggest that it might have been advisable to have data on the times and intensity of the moonlight'.

The unusual leaf movements that occur during brightly moonlit nights are antithetical to all previous hypotheses concerning the function of FN. The tritrophic hypothesis, however, offers a simple explanation for these anomalous movements: they may serve to protect primary consumers (e.g. insectivorous bats) from becoming the prey of secondary consumers (e.g. owls). Although light is known to induce leaf opening (photonasty), reorienting leaves to the diurnal position in the middle of the night serves no purpose insofar as carbon assimilation is concerned; even at its brightest, moonlight has no effect on photosynthesis (Raven & Cockell, 2006). Since these anomalous movements expend energy and have no effect on light capture for photosynthesis, they would have to be viewed, outside the context of the tritrophic hypothesis, as maladaptive. It would be interesting to determine whether species that demonstrate nyctinastic but not photonastic movements (Pearson, 1899; Holdsworth, 1959) also display these anomalous movements during brightly moonlit nights.

## (3) Foliar nyctinasty and the foraging behaviour of herbivores

For many animals, foraging represents a trade-off between maximizing energy intake and avoiding predation. Numerous field studies have shown that vegetation-covered microhabitats are typically considered safer than open microhabitats for small mammals in a wide variety of ecosystems (Kotler, Brown, & Hasson, 1991; Manson & Stiles, 1998). Not only do many rodents use the cover of vegetation to move from one food patch to another but they spend more time securing food while under the cover of vegetation (Taraborelli, Dacar, & Giannoni, 2003; Orrock, Danielson, & Brinkerhoff, 2004). Rodents that feel threatened due to enhanced exposure spend more time being vigilant and consequently less time foraging (Brown et al., 1988; Abramsky, Rosenzweig, & Subach, 2002). Another behavioural strategy used by nocturnal rodents exposed to too much nocturnal illumination is to carry food back to safer

locales instead of eating it in the field. This, too, limits how much they can eat (Vásquez, 1994). Finally, by encouraging small herbivorous mammals, by a reduction in safe choices, to forage and travel amidst non-nyctinastic competitors, FN also affords a competitive advantage to those plants that exhibit it.

#### V. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In principle, it would seem an easy matter to tease out the function of FN if suitable controls lacking the ability to undergo FN existed. Progress would be expedited by the establishment of a 'toolbox' for tackling ecological questions related to FN. Although some progress has been made in identifying mutants (Kawaguchi, 2003; Hartati et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2017) that lack FN, it is unclear if the mutations underlying these reductions in FN are free from pleiotropic effects. Another approach might involve more systematic comparison studies of large genera such as Trifolium (Harshberger, 1922), Mimosa (Simon et al., 2011), Cassia (Lasseigne, 1978) and Oxalis (Steckbeck, 1919; Gadeceau, 1926) that are adapted to a wide range of ecological milieux, and whose members show considerable diversity in their leaf movement behaviours. A few genera, such as Andira (Pennington, 2003; Rodrigues & Machado, 2008) or Coursetia (Lavin, 1986), that have both nyctinastic and non-nyctinastic members, might also prove beneficial in studying the function and genetics of FN.

Another useful approach towards gathering data from natural experiments concerning the ecological function of FN would be to bring to bear remote sensing technologies such as light detection and ranging (LiDAR). Indeed, LiDAR has previously been used to measure many parameters relevant to testing the tritrophic hypothesis, including leaf angle inclination (Hosoi & Omasa, 2015), avian species diversity, density and occurrence (Clawges *et al.*, 2008), and the relationships between birds (Bradley *et al.*, 2005; Müller, Stadler, & Brandl, 2010) and bats (Froidevaux *et al.*, 2016) *versus* vegetation structure. It might be possible, for example, to test whether aerial predators hunt more actively at night over stands of nyctinastic *versus* non-nyctinastic plants.

#### VI. CONCLUSIONS

(1) FN is an evolutionarily labile plant behaviour of unequal occurrence in a wide range of taxonomically and ecologically distinct plants. It is especially pronounced and prevalent in the legume family (Fabaceae).

(2) Many hypotheses have been put forth to explain the function of FN but the most plausible of these hypotheses can only explain the benefits of FN with reference to small subsets of plants.

and seeds of these plants that may make them especially desirable food sources for many herbivores.
(4) The tritrophic hypothesis proposes that FN is a plant behaviour that facilitates the hunting of nocturnal herbivores by reducing clutter (physical and acoustical), increasing

light penetrance, and improving the directionality of odour plumes. (5) A strength of the tritrophic hypothesis is its potentially broad applicability to non-marine ecosystems in all parts of

the world, ranging from xeric to mesic to aquatic. It is also applicable to plants of all sizes.

(6) Modern remote-sensing technologies such as LiDAR might prove useful in testing the tritrophic hypothesis.

#### **VII. REFERENCES**

References marked with asterisk have been cited within the supporting information.

- AARTSMA, Y., BIANCHI, F. J. J. A., VAN DER WERF, W. & POELMAN, E. H. (2017). Herbivore-induced plant volatiles and tritrophic interactions across spatial scales. *New Phytologist* 216, 1054–1063.
- \*ABBOTT, J. R. (2009). Phylogeny of the Polygalaceae and a revision of Badiera. PhD Thesis: University of Florida, Florida.
- ABRAMSKY, Z., ROSENZWEIG, M. L. & SUBACH, A. (2002). The costs of apprehensive foraging. *Ecology* 83, 1330–1340.
- AGRAWAL, A. A. (2011). Current trends in the evolutionary ecology of plant defence. Functional Ecology 25, 420–432.
- AHKTAR, S. (1974). Leaf movement of Linum usitatissimum. PhD Thesis: University of London, London.
- ANTHONY, P. A., HOLTUM, J. A. M. & JACKES, B. R. (2002). Shade acclimation of rainforest leaves to colonization by lichens. *Functional Ecology* 16, 808–816.
- ARENS, K. (1934). Die kutikulare Exkretion des Laubblattes. Jahrbücher für wissenschaftliche Botanik 80, 248–300.
- ARLETTAZ, R., JONES, G. & RACEY, P. A. (2001). Effect of acoustic clutter on prey detection by bats. *Nature* **414**, 742–745.
- ASSMANN, S. M. & ZEIGER, A. E. (1987). Guard cell bioenergetics. In *Stomatal Function* (eds E. ZEIGER, G. D. FARQUHAR and I. R. COWAN), pp. 163–193. Stanford University Press, Palo Alto.
- AUGUSTO, J., BRENNEMAN, T. B. & CULBREATH, A. K. (2010). Night-spraying peanut fungicides. I. Extended fungicide residual and integrated disease management. *Plant Disease* 94, 676–682.
- \*Bamboo Phylogeny Group (2012). An updated tribal and subtribal classification of the bamboos (Poaceae: Bambusoideae). Journal of the American Bamboo Society 24, 1–10.
- \*BAUDET, J. C. (1974). Signification taxonomique des caractères blastogèniques dans la tribu des Papilionaceae – Phaseoleae. Bulletin du Jardin Botanique National de Belgique 44, 259–293.
- BEARDSELL, M. F. (1977). Effects of routine handling on maize. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology 4, 857–861.
- \*BECK, E. (1986). Biology of afroalpine Dendrosenecio (Asteraceae). Plant Systematics and Evolution 152, 123–131.
- BECK, E., SENSER, M., SCHEIBE, R., STEIGER, H.-M. & PONGRATZ, P. (1982). Frost avoidance and freezing tolerance in Afroalpine giant rosette plants. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 5, 215–222.
- \*BEGG, J. E. & TORSELL, B. W. R. (1974). Diaphotonastic and parahelionastic leaf movements in *Stylosanthes humilis* H.B.K. (Townsville stylo). *Royal Society of New Zealand Bulletin* 12, 277–283.
- \*BEYRA, A. & LAVIN, M. A. (1999). Monograph of *Pictetia* (Leguminosae-Papilionoideae) and review of the Aeschynomeneae. *Systematic Botany Monographs* 56, 1–93.
- BOSE, J. C. (1926). The Nervous Mechanism of Plants. Longmans, Green and Co. Ltd., London.
- BRADLEY, D. J., GILBERT, G. S. & PARKER, I. M. (2003). Susceptibility of clover species to fungal infection: the interaction of leaf surface traits and environment. *American Journal of Botany* **90**, 857–864.
- BRADLEY, R. B., HILL, R. A., MASON, D. C., HINSLEY, S. A., WILSON, J. D., BALZTER, H., ANDERSON, G. Q. A., WHITTINGHAM, M. J., DAVENPORT, I. J. & BELLAMY, P. E. (2005). Modelling relationships between birds and vegetation structure using airborne LiDAR data: a review with case studies from agricultural and woodland environments. *Ibis* 147, 443–452.

- BRIGHAM, R. M., GRINDAL, S. D., FIRMAN, M. C. & MORISSETTE, J. L. (1997). The influence of structural clutter on activity patterns of insectivorous bats. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 75, 131–136.
- \*BROUWER, G. (1926). De periodieke bewegingen van de primaire bladeren bij de keimplanten van Canavalia ensiformis. PhD Thesis: Utrecht University, Utrecht.
- BROWN, J. S., KOTLER, B. P., SMITH, R. J. & WIRTZ, W. O. (1988). The effects of owl predation on the foraging behavior of heteromyid rodents. *Oecologia* 76, 408–415.
- BÜNNING, E. (1931). Untersuchungen über die autonomen tagesperiodischen Bewegungen der Primärblätter von Phaseolus multiflorus. Jahrbücher für wissenschaftliche Botanik 75, 439–480.
- BÜNNING, E. & MOSER, I. (1969). Interference of moonlight with the photoperiodic measurement of time by plants, and their adaptive reaction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* 62, 1018–1022.
- BURD, M. (2007). Adaptive function of drip tips, a test of the epiphyll hypothesis in Psychotra marginata and Faramea occidentalis (Rubiaccae). Journal of Tropical Ecology 23, 449–455.
- CAIRD, M. A., RICHARDS, J. H. & DONOVAN, L. A. (2007). Nighttime stomatal conductance and transpiration in C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> plants. *Plant Physiology* 143, 4–10.
- CHAZDON, R. L. (1986). The costs of leaf support in understory palms, economy versus safety. *American Naturalist* 127, 9–30.
- CHEN, J., MOREAU, C., LIU, Y., KAWAGUCHI, M., HOFER, J., ELLIS, N. & CHEN, R. (2012). Conserved genetic determinant of motor organ identity in *Medicago* trancatula and related legumes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* 109, 11723–11728.
- CHOLODNY, N. (1932). Zur Kenntnis der durch das regnerische Wetter verursachten Ertragsabnahme bei Getreidearten. *Berichte der Deutschen Botanischen Gesellschaft* **50**, 562–570.
- CHRISTMAN, M. A., DONOVAN, L. A. & RICHARDS, J. H. (2009). Magnitude of nighttime transpiration does not affect plant growth or nutrition in well-watered *Arabidopsis. Physiologia Plantarum* 136, 264–273.
- CIECHANOWSKI, M., ZAJĄC, T., BIŁAS, A. & DUNAJSKI, R. (2007). Spatiotemporal variation in activity of bat species differing in hunting tactics, effects of weather, moonlight, food abundance, and structural clutter. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 85, 1249–1263.
- CLAWGES, R., VIELING, K., VIERLING, L. & ROWELL, E. (2008). The use of airborne lidar to assess avian species diversity, density, and occurrence in a pine/aspen forest. *Remote Sensing of the Environment* **112**, 2064–2073.
- COLEY, P. (1986). Costs and benefits of defense by tannins in a neotropical tree. Oecologia 70, 238-241.
- COOK, M. (1980). Peanut leaf wettability and susceptibility to infection by *Puccinia* arachidis. *Phytopathology* **70**, 826–830.
- COUTAND, C. & MOULIA, B. (2000). Biomechanical study of the effect of a controlled bending on tomato stem elongation: local strain sensing and spatial integration of the signal. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51, 1825–1842.
- CUNNINGHAM, D. D. (1895). The causes of fluctuations in turgescence in the motor organs of leaves. Annals of the Royal Botanical Gardens, Calcutta 6, 1–161.
- DARWIN, C. (1880). The Power of Movements in Plants. John Murray, London.
- DARWIN, C. R. (1881). Movements of plants. Nature 23, 409.
- DEAN, J. M. & SMITH, A. P. (1978). Behavioral and morphological adaptations of a tropical plant to high rainfall. *Biotropica* 10, 152–154.
- DICE, L. R. (1945). Minimum intensities of illumination under which owls can find prey on sight. *American Naturalist* 79, 385–416.
- DUN, B. K. & THAKURTA, G. (1959). Spasmodic evening fall of the leaf of Mimosa pudica. Transactions of the Bose Research Institute 23, 91–97.
- EISNER, T. (1981). Leaf folding in a sensitive plant: a defensive thorn-exposure mechanism? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* **78**, 402–404.
- ENRIGHT, J. T. (1982). Sleep movements of leaves, in defense of Darwin's interpretation. *Oecologia* 54, 253–259.
- ERBAN, M. (1916). Über die Verteilung der Spaltoffnungen in Beziehung zur Schlafstellung der Blatter. Berichte der Deutschen Botanischen Gesellschaft 34, 880–890.
- ERNER, Y., BIRO, R. L. & JAFFE, M. J. (1980). Thigmomorphogenesis, evidence for a translocatable thigmomorphogenetic factor induced by mechanical perturbation of beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). *Physiologia Plantarum* **50**, 21–25.
- \*FEITOZA, G. M., SANTOS, J. U. M., GURGEL, E. S. C. & OLIVIERA, D. M. T. (2014). Morphology of fruits, seeds, seedlings and saplings of three species of *Macrolobium* Schreb. (Leguminosae, Caesalpinioideae) in the Brazilian Amazon floodplain. *Acta Botanica Brasilica* 28, 422–433.
- FINELLI, C. M., PENTCHEFF, N. D., ZIMMER-FAUST, R. K. & WETHEY, D. S. (2000). Physical constraints on ecological processes: a field test of odor-mediated foraging. *Ecology* 81, 784–797.
- \*FITTKAU, H. W. (1976). Nyktinastische oder Schlafbewegungen bei Pereskiopsis aquosa (Weber) Britton & Rose. Kakteen und andere Sukkulenten 27, 69–70.
- FOKKEMA, N. J., DEN HOUTER, J. G., KOSTERMAN, Y. J. C. & NELIS, A. L. (1979). Manipulation of yeasts on field-grown wheat leaves and their antagonistic effect on *Cochliobolus sativus* and *Septoria nodorum*. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society* 72, 19–29.

Biological Reviews 94 (2019) 216-229 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- FORSETH, I. N. (1990). Function of leaf movements. In *The Pulvinus, Motor Organ for Leaf Movement* (eds R. L. SATTER, H. L. GORTON and T. C. VOGELMANN), pp. 238–261. American Society of Plant Physiologists, Rockville.
- FORSTER, M. A. (2014). How significant is nocturnal sap flow? *Tree Physiology* 34, 757-765.
- FROIDEVAUX, J. S. P., ZELLWEGER, F., BOLLMAN, K., JONES, G. & OBRIST, M. K. (2016). From field surveys to LiDAR: Shining a light on how bats respond to forest structure. *Remote Sensing of the Environment* 175, 242–250.
- GADECEAU, E. (1926). Le sommeil des plantes: La nyctinastie dans le genre Oxalis. Bulletin de la Société Botanique de France 73, 682–687.
- GAO, J., YANG, S., CHENG, W., FU, Y., LENG, J., YUAN, X., JIANG, N., MA, J. & FENG, X. (2017). *GmILPA1*, encoding an APC8-like protein, controls leaf petiole angle in soybean. *Plant Physiology* **174**, 1167–1176.
- GARDNER, M. (1981). Effects of turbidity on feeding rates and selectivity of bluegills. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 110, 446–450.
- GATES, F. C. (1923). Influence of moonlight on movements of leguminous leaflets. *Ecology* 4, 37–39.
- GILBERT, G. S. & REYNOLDS, D. R. (2005). Nocturnal fungi: Airborne spores in the canopy and understory of a tropical rain forest. *Biotropica* 37, 462–464.
- GITARI, J.N. (1986). Studies on biology and control of Oxalis latifolia H.B.K. MSc Thesis: University of Manitoba, Manitoba.
- GOEBEL, K. (1908). Einleitung in die experimentelle Morphologie der Pflanzen. B.G. Teubner, Leipzig.
- \*GONZÁLEZ, J. A. (1988). Movimientos nictinásticos en Pachylaena atriplicifolia (Compositae) y algunas consideraciones ecólogicas. Lilloa 37, 95–105.
- GORTON, H. L. (1990). Stomates and pulvini: a comparison of two, rhythmic, turgor-mediated movement systems. In *The Pulvinus, Motor Organ for Leaf Movement* (eds R. L. SATTER, H. L. GORTON and T. C. VOGELMANN), pp. 214–222. American Society of Plant Physiologists, Rockville.
- GROSS, M. K., SANTINI, J. B., TIKHONOVA, I. & LATIN, R. (1998). The influence of temperature and leaf wetness duration on infection of perennial ryegrass by *Rhizoctonia solani*. *Plant Disease* 82, 1012–1016.
- GRUBB, P. J. & JACKSON, R. V. (2007). The adaptive value of young leaves being tightly folded or rolled on monocotyledons in tropical lowland rain forest, an hypothesis in two parts. *Plant Ecology* **192**, 317–327.
- \*HALABAN, R. (1968). The circadian rhythm of leaf movement of *Coleus blumei* X C. *frederici*, a short day plant. I. Under constant light conditions. *Plant Physiology* 43, 1883–1886.
- HARREL, S. L. & DIBBLE, E. D. (2001). Foraging efficiency of juvenile bluegill, Lepomis macrochirus, among different vegetated habitats. Environmental Biology of Fishes 62, 441–453.
- HARSHBERGER, J. W. (1922). Ecologic and morphologic structure of the clovers (*Trifolium*). Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society **61**, 136–150.
- HARTATI, S., SUDARMONOWATI, E., PARK, Y. W., KAKU, T., KAIDA, R., BABA, K. & HAYASHI, T. (2008). Overexpression of poplar cellulase accelerates growth and disturbs the closing movements of leaves in sengon. *Plant Physiology* 147, 552–561.
- \*HERBERT, T. J. (1992). Geometry of heliotropic and nyctinastic leaf movements. American Journal of Botany 79, 547-550.
- HERENDEEN, P. S., CREPET, W. L. & DILCHER, D. L. (1992). The fossil history of the Leguminosae: phylogenetic and biogeographic implications. In Advances in Legume Systematics, Part 4, The Fossil Record (eds P. S. HERENDEN and D. L. DILCHER), pp. 303–316. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew.
- HILL, J. (1762). The Sleep of Plants, and Cause of Motion in the Sensitive Plant, Explained. R. Baldwin, London.
- \*HILLMAN, W. S. & KOUKKARI, W. L. (1967). Phytochrome effects in the nyctinastic leaf movements of *Albizzia julibrissin* and some other legumes. *Plant Physiology* 42, 1413–1418.
- HOLDER, C. D. (2007). Leaf water repellency of species in Guatemala and Colorado (USA) and its significance to forest hydrology studies. *Journal of Hydrology* **336**, 147–154.
- HOLDER, C. D. (2012). The relationship between leaf hydrophobicity, water droplet retention, and leaf angle of common species in a semi-arid region of the western United States. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 152, 11–16.
- HOLDSWORTH, M. (1959). The effects of daylength on the movements of pulvinate leaves. *New Phytologist* 58, 29–45.
- HOLT, D. W. & LAVNE, E. A. (2008). Eye injuries in long-cared owls (Asio otus): prevalence and survival. Journal of Raptor Research 42, 243–247.
- HOSHIZAKI, T. & HAMNER, K. C. (1969). Computer analysis of the leaf movements of pinto beans. *Plant Physiology* 44, 1045–1050.
- HOSOI, F. & OMASA, K. (2015). Estimating leaf inclination angle distribution of broad-leaved trees in each part of the canopies by a high-resolution portable scanning lidar. *Journal of Agricultural Meteorology* **71**, 136–141.
- HUBER, L. & GILLESPIE, T. J. (1992). Modelling leaf wetness in relation to plant disease epidemiology. Annual Review of Phytopathology 30, 553–570.
- HUGHES, C. E. (1998). Monograph of Leucaena (Leguminosae- Mimosoideae). Systematic Botany Monographs 55, 1–244.

- ISHIMARU, Y., HAMAMOTO, S., UOZOMI, N. & UEDA, M. (2012). Regulatory mechanism of plant nyctinastic movement: an ion channel-related plant behavior. In *Plant Electrophysiology* (ed. A. G. VOLKOV), pp. 125–142. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- IVEY, C. T. & DESILVA, N. (2001). A test of the functions of drip tips. *Biotropica* 33, 188–191.
- \*JAGEL, A. & HÖGGEMEIER, A. (2016). Pistia stratiodes Wassersalat (Araceae). Jarbuch des Bochumer Botanischen Vereins 7, 293–298.
- JAYAPAL GOWDU, B. & BALASUBRAMANIAN, R. (1988). Role of phylloplane microorganisms in the biological control of foliar plant diseases. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenkrankheiten und Pflanzenschutz 95, 310–331.
- KADMAN-ZAHAVI, A. & PEIPER, D. (1987). Effects of moonlight on flower induction in *Pharbitis nil*, using a single dark period. *Annals of Botany* 60, 621–623.
- KALKA, M. B., SMITH, A. R. & KALKO, E. K. V. (2008). Bats limit arthropods and herbivory in a tropical forest. *Science* 320, 71.
- KARVE, A. D., DESHMUKH, A. K., BHALERAO, A. C. & DESHMUKH, V. A. (1984). Photomorphogenic regulation of reproductive development in groundnut and the significance of leaf movements. *New Phytologist* **96**, 535–543.
- KAWAGUCHI, M. (2003). SLEEPLESS, a gene conferring nyctinastic movement in legume. Journal of Plant Research 116, 151–154.
- KLARING, H. P. (1999). Effects of non-destructive mechanical measurements on plant growth, a study with sweet pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L). Scientia Horticulturae 81, 369–375.
- KNOLL, D. & SCHREIBER, L. (2000). Plant-microbe interactions: wetting of ivy (*Hedera helix* L.) lcaf surfaces in relation to colonization by epiphytic microorganisms. *Microbial Ecology* 40, 33–42.
- KOTLER, B. P., BROWN, J. S. & HASSON, O. (1991). Factors affecting gerbil foraging behavior and rates of owl predation. *Ecology* 72, 2249–2260.
- KRAATZ, G. W. & ANDERSON, R. N. (1980). Leaf movements in sicklepod (Cassia obtusifolia) in relation to herbicide response. Weed Science 20, 551–556.
- KURSAR, T. A. & COLEY, P. D. (2003). Convergence in defense syndromes of young leaves in tropical rainforests. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology* 31, 929–949.
- LANG, A. B., KALKO, E. K. V., RÖMER, H., BOCKHOLDT, C. & DECHMANN, D. J. K. N. (2006). Activity levels of bats and katydids in relation to the lunar cycle. *Oecologia* 146, 659–666.
- LASSEIGNE A. (1978). Section Chamaefistula, series Corymbosae (Leguminosae, Cassia) of the New World. PhD Thesis: Iowa State University, Iowa.
- LAVIN, M. (1986). A new species of *Courselia* (Fabaceae, Robinieae) from the Chihuahuan desert, Mexico. *Madrono* 33, 182–185.
- LAVIN, M. (1988). Systematics of *Coursetia* (Leguminosae-Papilionoideae). Systematic Botany Monographs 21, 1–167.
- \*LAVIN, M. & SOUSA, M. (1995). Phylogenetic systematics and biogeography of the tribe Robinicae. Systematic Bolany Monographs 45, 1-165.
- \*LAVIN, M., WOJCIECHOWSKI, M. F., GASSON, P., HUGHES, C. H. & WHEELER, E. (2003). Phylogeny of robinioid legumes (Fabaceae) revisited: *Coursetia* and *Gliricidia* recircumscribed, and a biogeographical appraisal of the Caribbean endemics. *Systematic Botany* 28, 387–409.
- LEE, H., GARRETT, W. M., SULLIVAN, J., FORSETH, I. & NATARAJAN, S. S. (2014). Proteomic analysis of the pulvinus, a heliotropic tissue, in *Glycine max. International Journal of Plant Biology* 5, 8–12.
- LEONARD, R. J., MCARTHUR, C. & HOCHULI, D. F. (2016). Exposure to wind alters insect herbivore behaviour in larvae of *Uraba lugens* (Lepidoptera: Nolidae). *Austral Entomology* 55, 242–246.
- LINNÆO, C. & BREMER, P. (1759). Somnus plantarum. Amoenitates Academicae 4, 333–350.
- LIU, C.-C., WELHAM, C. V. J., ZHANG, X.-Q. & WANG, R.-Q. (2007). Leaflet movement of *Robinia pseudoacacia* in response to a changing light environment. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* **49**, 419–424.
- LÜCKING, R. & BERNECKER-LÜCKING, A. (2005). Drip-tips do not impair the development of epiphyllous rain-forest lichen communities. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 21, 171–177.
- LUCKOW, M. (1993). Monograph of Desmanthus (Leguminosae Mimosoideae). Systematic Botany Monographs 38, 1–166.
- LUCKOW, M. (2002). Anatomical features of the leaves in the Dichrostachys group (Leguminosae: Mimosoideae) and their utility for phylogenetic studies. *Systematic Botany* 27, 29–40.
- \*MABBERLEY, D. J. (2008). Mabberley's Plant-Book: a Portable Dictionary of Plants, Their Classifications and Uses, 3rd Edition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- MANSON, R. H. & STILES, E. W. (1998). Links between microhabitat preferences and seed predation by small mammals in old fields. *Oikos* 82, 37–50.
- MARTENS, M. J. M. & MICHELSEN, A. (1981). Absorption of acoustic energy by plant leaves. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 69, 303–306.
- MATIMATI, I., VERBOOM, G. A. & CRAMER, M. D. (2014). Do hydraulic redistribution and nocturnal transpiration facilitate nutrient acquisition in *Aspalathus linearis*? *Oecologia* 175, 1129–1142.
- MATTSON, W. J. (1980). Herbivory in relation to plant nitrogen content. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 11, 119–161.

- MCCORMACK, P., WILDMAN, H. G. & JEFFRIES, P. (1994). Production of antibacterial compounds by phylloplane-inhabiting yeasts and yeastlike fungi. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **60**, 927–931.
- MCKEY, D. (1994). Legumes and nitrogen: the evolutionary ecology of a nitrogen-demanding life style. In Advances in Legume Systematics 5: The Nitrogen Factor (eds. J. I. SPRENT and D. MCKEY), pp. 211–228. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew.
- MECKLENBURG, R.A. (1964). The influence of foliar leaching on plant nutrition with special reference to root-uptake, translocation, and loss of calcium. PhD Thesis: Cornell University, Ithaca.
- MINKENBERG, O. P. J. M. & FREDRIX, M. J. J. (1989). Preference and performance of an herbivorous fly, *Liriomyza trifolii* (Diptera: Agromyzidae), on tomato plants differing in leaf nitrogen. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 82, 350–354.
- MÜLLER, J., STADLER, J. & BRANDL, R. (2010). Composition versus physiognomy of vegetation as predictors of bird assemblages: The role of lidar. *Remote Sensing of the Environment* 114, 490–495.
- MURLIS, J., WILLIS, M. A. & CARDÉ, R. T. (2000). Spatial and temporal structures of pheromone plumes in fields and forests. *Physiological Entomology* 25, 211–222.
- NEINHUIS, C. & BARTHLOTT, W. (1998). Seasonal changes of leaf surface contamination in beech, oak, and ginkgo in relation to leaf micromorphology and wettability. *New Phytologist* 138, 91–98.
- \*OBERBAUER, S. F., STRAIN, B. R. & REICHERS, G. H. (1987). Field water relations of a wet-tropical forest tree species, *Pentaclethra macroloba* (Mimosaceae). *Oecologia* 71, 369–374.
- \*OHNUKI, T., UEDA, M. & YAMAMURA, S. (1998). Molecular mechanism of the control of the nyctinastic leaf-movement in *Lespedeza cuneata* G. Don. *Tetrahedron* 54, 12173–12184.
- ORROCK, J. L., DANIELSON, B. J. & BRINKERHOFF, R. J. (2004). Rodent foraging is affected by indirect, but not by direct, cues of predation risk. *Behavioral Ecology* 15, 433–437.
- \*PALMER, J. H. & ASPREY, G. F. (1958). Studies in the nyctinastic movement of the leaf pinnae of Samanea saman (Jacq.) Merrill. I. A general description of the effect of light on the nyctinastic rhythm. *Planta* 51, 757–769.
- PARK, C. C. (2002). Tropical Rainforests. Routledge, London and New York.
- PEARSON, H. H. W. (1899). The botany of the Ceylon patanas. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 34, 300–365.
- PENNINGTON, R. T. (2003). A monograph of Andira (Leguminosae-Papilionoideae). Systematic Botany Monographs 64, 1–145.
- PFEFFER, W. (1875). Die Periodischen Bewegungen der Blattorgane. Verlag von Wilhem Engelmann, Leipzig.
- PRICE, M. A., ATTENBOROUGH, K. & HEAP, N. W. (1988). Sound attenuation through trees, measurements and models. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 84, 1836–1844.
- PRICE, P. W., BOUTON, C. E., GROSS, P., MCPHERON, B. A., THOMPSON, J. N. & WEIS, A. E. (1980). Interactions among three trophic levels: Influence of plants on interactions between insect herbivores and natural enemies. *Annual Review of Ecology* and Systematics 11, 41–65.
- PUTTONEN, E., BRIESE, C., MANDLBURGER, G., WIESER, M., PFENNINGBAUER, M., ZLINSZKY, A. & PFEIFFER, N. (2016). Quantification of overnight movement of birch (*Betula pendula*) branches and foliage with short interval terrestrial laser scanning. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7, 222.
- RAINHO, A., AUGUSTO, A. M. & PALMEIRIM, J. M. (2010). Influence of vegetation clutter on the capacity of ground foraging bats to capture prey. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 47, 850–858.
- RANDLKOFER, B., OBERMAIER, E., HILKER, M. & MEINERS, T. (2010). Vegetation complexity—The influence of plant species diversity and plant structures on plant chemical complexity and arthropods. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 11, 383–395.
- RAVEN, J. A. & COCKELL, C. S. (2006). Influence on photosynthesis of starlight, moonlight, planetlight, and light pollution (Reflections on photosynthetically active radiation in the universe). Astrobiology 6, 668–675.
- RIVIÈRE, M., DERR, J. & DOUADY, S. (2017). Motions of leaves and stems, from growth to potential use. *Physical Biology* 14, 051001.
- \*RODRIGUES, R. S., FEITOZA, G. V. & FLORES, A. S. (2014). Taxonomic relevance of seed and seedling morphology in two Amazonian species of *Entada* (Leguminosae). *Acta Amazonica* 44, 19–24.
- \*RODRIGUES, R. S. & TOZZI, A. M. G. A. (2007). Morfologia de plântulas de cinco leguminosas genistóides arbóreas do Brasil (Leguminosae-Papilionoideae). *Acta Botanica Brasiliensis* 21, 599–607.
- \*RODRIGUES, R. S. & TOZZI, A. M. G. A. (2008). Systematic relevance of seedling morphology in *Acosmium, Guianodendron*, and *Leptolobium* (Leguminosae, Papilionoideae). *Brittonia* 60, 287–296.
- RODRIGUES, T. M. & MACHADO, S. R. (2008). Pulvinus functional traits in relation to leaf movements: A light and transmission electron microscopy study of the vascular system. *Micron* 39, 7–16.
- ROSKOSKI, J. P. (1981). Epiphyll dynamics of a tropical understory. Oikos 37, 252–256. \*ROTH, I. (1990). Leaf structure of a Venezuelan cloud forest. G. Borntraeger, Berlin.
- ROWLANDSON, T., GLEASON, M., SENTELHAS, P., GILLESPIE, T., THOMAS, C. & HORNBUCKLE, B. (2015). Reconsidering leaf wetness duration determination for plant disease management. *Plant Disease* **99**, 310–318.

- \*RUNYON, E. H. (1934). The organization of the creosote bush with respect to drought. *Ecology* 15, 128–138.
- SCHWINTZER, C. R. (1971). Energy budgets and temperatures of nyctinastic leaves on freezing nights. *Plant Physiology* 48, 203–207.
- SELLERS, B. A., SMEDA, R. J. & JOHNSON, W. G. (2003). Diurnal fluctuations and leaf angle reduce glufosinate efficacy. *Weed Technology* 17, 302–306.
- SEMON, R. (1905). Über die Erblichkeit der Tagesperiode. Biologische Zentralblatt 25, 241–252.
- SEMON, R. (1908). Hat der Rhythmus der Tageszeiten bei Pflanzen erbliche Eindrücke hinterlassen? Biologische Zentralblatt 28, 225–243.
- \*SHELLEY, W. B. & ARTHUR, R. P. (1955). Studies on cowhage (*Mucuna pruriens*) and its pruritogenic proteinase, mucunain. *AMA Archives of Dermatology* **72**, 399–406.
- SHORT, M. W., SCHMIDT, S. & STEINBAUER, M. J. (2006). A key to some Australian genera of large nocturnal Ichneumonidae (Hymenoptera), including flight periodicities and influence of moon phase on light trap catches. *Australian Entomologist* 33, 49–55.
- \*SILVERSTONE-SOPKIN, P. A. (2015). A new species of Chloroleucon (Leguminosae, Mimosoideae) from the Cauca Valley, Colombia. Novon 24, 50–54.
- SIMON, M. F., FRETHER, R., DE QUEIROZ, L. P., SÄRKINEN, T. E., DUTRA, V. F. & HUGHES, C. E. (2011). The evolutionary history of *Mimosa* (Leguminosae): Toward a phylogeny of the sensitive plants. *American Journal of Botany* **98**, 1201–1221.
- SINGH, S. R. & VAN EMDEN, H. F. (1979). Insect pests of grain legumes. Annual Review of Entomology 24, 255–278.
- SMITH, A. P. (1974). Bud temperature in reference to nyctinastic leaf movement in an Andean giant rosette plant. *Biotropica* 6, 263–266.
- SMITH, W. K. & MCCLEAN, T. M. (1989). Adaptive relationship between leaf water repellency, stomatal distribution, and gas exchange. *American Journal of Botany* 76, 465–469.
- \*SODERSTROM, T. R. (1982). Cryptochloa dressleri (Poaceae), a new bambusoid grass from Panama. Brittonia 34, 25–29.
- SPOTTS, R. A. (1977). Effect of leaf wetness duration and temperature on the infectivity of *Guignardia bidwellii* on grape leaves. *Phytopathology* 67, 1378–1381.
- STAHL, E. (1897). Über den Pflanzenschlaf und verwandte Erscheinungen. Botanisches Zeitung 55, 71–109.
- STECKBECK, D. W. (1919). The comparative histology and irritability of sensitive plants. Contributions from the Botanical Laboratory of the University of Pennsylvania 4, 185–230.
- \*STIRTON, C. H. (1981). The Eriosema cordatum complex. II. The Eriosema cordatum and E. nutans groups. Bothalia 13, 281–306.
- TANNER, W. & BEEVERS, H. (2001). Transpiration, a prerequisite for long-distance transport of minerals in plants? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* 98, 9443–9447.
- TARABORELLI, P. A., DACAR, M. & GIANNONI, S. M. (2003). Effect of plant cover on seed removal by rodents in the Monte Desert (Mendoza, Argentina). *Austral Ecology* 28, 651–657.
- \*TRAVLOS, I. S., LIAKOPOULOS, G., KARABOURNIOTIS, G., FASSEAS, C. & KARAMANOS, A. J. (2008). Circadian leaflet movements of *Tylosema esculentum* (Burch) A. Schreib, and the abolishment of these diurnal movements by potassium deficiency. *Journal of Arid Environments* **72**, 1745–1750.
- TUKEY, H. B. (1970). The leaching of substances from plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 21, 305–324.
- TURCOTTE, M. M., DAVIES, T. J., THOMSEN, C. J. M. & JOHNSON, M. T. J. (2014). Macroecological and macroevolutionary patterns of leaf herbivory across vascular plants. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B, London* 281, 20140555.
- UEDA, M., SHIGEMORI, H. & SATA, N. (2000). The diversity of chemical substances controlling the nyctinastic leaf-movement in plants. *Phytochemistry* 53, 39–44.
- UEDA, M., SUGIMOTO, T., SAWAI, Y. & YAMAMURA, S. (2002). The biological significance of leaf-movement, an approach using a synthetic inhibitor of leaf-closure. *Tetrahedron Letters* 43, 7545–7548.
- ULRICH, E. B. (1911). Leaf movements in the family Oxalidaceae. Contributions of the Botanical Laboratory of the University of Pennsylvania 3, 211–242.
- \*VAN DER PIJL, L. (1952). The leaf of Bauhinia. Acta Botanica Neerlandica 1, 287-309.
- VÁSQUEZ, R. A. (1994). Assessment of predation risk via illumination level: facultative central place foraging in the cricetid rodent *Phyllotis darwini*. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 34, 375–381.
- VERMEIJ, G. J. (2015). Plants that lead: do some surface features direct enemy traffic on leaves and stems? *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **116**, 288–294.
- WÄCHTER, W. (1909). Beobachtungen über die Bewegungen der Blätter von Myriophyllum proserpinacoides. Jahrbücher für wissenschaftliche Botanik 46, 418–442.
- \*WALTER, A., FEIL, R. & SCHURR, U. (2002). Restriction of nyctinastic movements and application of tensile forces to leaves affects diurnal patterns of expansion growth. *Functional Plant Biology* 29, 1247–1258.
- WARD, D. M. & NEWMAN, R. M. (2006). Fish predation on Eurasian watermilfoil (Myriophyllum spicatum) herbivores and indirect effects on macrophytes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63, 1049–1057.
- WETHERELL, D. F. (1990). Leaf movements in plants without pulvini. In *The Pulvinus*, *Motor The Organ for Leaf Movement* (eds R. L. SATTER, H. L. GORTON and T. C. VOGELMANN), pp. 72–78. American Society of Plant Physiologists, Rockville.

#### Functions of foliar nyctinasty

- WILLIAMS-GUILLEN, K., PERFECTO, I. & VANDERMEER, J. (2008). Bats limit insects in a neotropical agroforestry system. *Science* **320**, 70.
- WIRTH, W., STORP, S. & JACOBSEN, W. (1991). Mechanisms controlling leaf retention of agricultural spray solutions. *Pest Management Science* 33, 411–420.
- YANG, S. & SMITH, E. A. (2006). Mechanisms for diurnal variability of global tropical rainfall observed from TRMM. *Journal of Climate* 19, 5190–5226.
- YIN, H. C. (1941). Studies on the nyctinastic movement of leaves of *Carica papaya*. *American Journal of Botany* 28, 250-261.
- ZANGERL, A. R., HAMILTON, J. G., MILLER, T. J., CROFTS, A. R., OXBOROUGH, K., BERENBAUM, M. R. & DE LUCIA, E. H. (2002). Impact of folivory on photosynthesis is greater than the sum of its holes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* 99, 1088–1091.
- ZHOU, C., HAN, L., FU, C., CHAI, M., ZHANG, W., LI, G., TANG, Y. & WANG, Z. (2012). Identification and characterization of *petiolule-like* pulvinus mutants with abolished nyctinastic leaf movement in the model legume *Medicago truncatula*. *New Phytologist* **196**, 92–100.
- ZHU, C. G., CHEN, Y. N., LI, W. H., CHEN, X. L. & HE, G. Z. (2015). Heliotropic leaf movement of *Sophora alopecuroides* L.: An efficient strategy to optimise photochemical performance. *Photosynthetica* 53, 231–240.
- ZLINSZKY, A., MOLNÁR, B. & BARRFOD, A. S. (2017). Not all trees sleep the same – high temporal resolution terrestrial laser scanning shows differences in nocturnal plant movement. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8, e1814.

#### VIII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article. **Appendix S1.** List of genera reported to exhibit foliar nyctinasty.

(Received 26 December 2017; revised 12 June 2018; accepted 15 June 2018; published online 11 July 2018)